70335-8

7-0335-8'

NO. 70335-8-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STOCK & ASSOCIATES, INC., a Washington corporation,

Appellant,

VS.

STUART MCLEOD, an individual and MCLEOD DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, a Washington company

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

THE COLLINS LAW GROUP PLLC

Jami K. Elison WSBA #31007 Sheri Lyons Collins WSBA #21969 2806 NE Sunset Blvd., Suite A Renton, WA 98056

Telephone: (425) 271-2575 Facsimile: (425) 271-0788

Attorneys for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

Appellant, Stock & Associates, Inc., provided professional architectural and design services to Respondents, Stuart McLeod and McLeod Development Company (collectively "McLeod"), for a commercial development project. To save McLeod from a million dollar impact fee and to meet all required deadlines, Stock & Associates provided those services even after the parties' contract negotiations failed to conclude in an agreement.

Stock & Associates fully performed its obligations even including changes to the work scope. The crux of the parties' dispute at trial was whether Stock & Associates, plaintiff below, was entitled to payment for services actually provided. Appellant contends that the parties agreed upon a base price of approximately \$1.41 million for identified work but that additional work was required and necessary to complete the project. In contrast, McLeod contends that despite the failure to conclude contract negotiations payment was limited to \$1.41 million regardless of what work was actually performed.

Under Washington law parties will be held to their agreed contract terms; however, this dispute arises from the parties' failure to reach an agreement on compensation for extra work which distinguishes this matter from the Court of Appeals decision in *Hensel Phelps Constr. Co. v. King*

Cty, 57 Wn. App. 170, 787 P.2d 58 (1990). Instead, the Supreme Court authorities in Bignold v. King County, 65 Wn.2d 817, 399 P.2d 611 (1965) and V. C. Edwards Contracting Co., Inc. v. Port of Tacoma, 83 Wn.2d 7, 514 P.2d 1381 (1973) govern this matter.

While quantum meruit is largely dead in Washington contract law following *Hensel Phelps*, that holding is explicitly based on a contract dispute where the parties had an agreed written contract contemplating and defining compensation for extra work. In this case, in contrast, evidence from both parties establishes a failure of the parties to reach an agreement on compensation for extra work, in other words for justice to result the jury must have been instructed on quantum meruit as requested by Stock & Associates as the alternative ground for entitlement.

Stock & Associates and McLeod exchanged versions of a written agreement. Stock & Associates provided an industry standard draft form that allowed payment for work done outside an agreed upon scope of work. After a substantial delay, McLeod belatedly provided its own substantially altered draft, in which the payment scheme proposed by Stock & Associates was gutted because McLeod's draft marked out all provisions for extra payment.

Stock & Associates immediately communicated rejection of McLeod's alterations. By that time, a substantial delay having been

caused by McLeod's failure to return a draft form, McLeod had an urgent need to proceed with the project. If the project had not received approval by February 1, 2008, McLeod would be liable for nearly \$1 million in additional transportation impact fees. For that reason, in response to disputes about payment for extra or changed work, McLeod elected to halt negotiations over an agreement, directed Stock & Associates to proceed and stated instead that he would "take care of" them, which can only mean that Stock & Associates would be fairly compensated.

Because the parties had a past relationship, Stock & Associates proceeded without a signed contract relying on McLeod's promise that he would "take care of" them. As the project proceeded there was substantial extra work primarily because of Respondent's ongoing and substantial changes to the project combined with the Kirkland Design Review Board's consequent requirement for additional meetings to address said changes. Stock & Associates invoiced McLeod for the extra work. However, in the end McLeod attempted to seize advantage from the failed negotiations and refused to pay any amounts for extra work necessitating a trial.

Prior to trial, Stock & Associates submitted proposed jury instructions on two alternative theories of the case for trial: that the parties had a contract whether written or oral that McLeod breached by not

compensating Stock & Associates for all sums billed; and alternatively, Stock & Associates sought recovery in quantum meruit on a quasi-contract theory for necessary services provided outside the scope of the agreement.

However, the trial court rejected and refused to give Stock & Associates instructions on quantum meruit and instructed the jury only as to breaches of contract. Consequently, Stock & Associates was unable to present this issue to the jury and was denied the legal right to argue the alternative entitlement to recovery. Without the instruction about how to handle failed negotiations, the jury determined Stock & Associates was not entitled to recover damages except for one item that during trial Stuart McLeod admitted to be covered by an agreement.

Also, prior to trial, McLeod revealed its intent, for the first time, to pursue a "counterclaim" against Stock & Associates based on its voluntary payment to one of Stock & Associates' subcontractors. The trial court initially refused to dismiss the claim and the jury awarded sums to McLeod for a purely voluntary payment. The trial court corrected this legal mistake after trial; however, the proceedings had already been tainted with confusion as to whether Stock & Associates was failing to meet its own contract obligations to McLeod and others. Allowing that legally erroneous claim to be presented constituted a statement on the evidence because it gave the jury the impression that McLeod had contract

rights against Stock & Associates which it in fact and law did not possess.

Plaintiff Stock & Associates appealed the final judgment. Under Washington law the judgment should be reversed and remanded for a new trial. Deprived of its right to pursue a legal ground of entitlement that exists outside of agreed contract provisions, Stock & Associates was prejudiced by the failure to instruct on quantum meruit and by the presentation of a counterclaim that erroneously suggested to the jury the existence of a contract.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred by rejecting Stock & Associates' proposed instructions and refusing to instruct the jury on quantum meruit as a quasi-contract remedy. Given the facts presented at trial, this failure materially harmed Stock & Associates' legal rights and prevented it from having the jury decide whether to award in quantum meruit and the reasonable value of services provided by Stock & Associates for the benefit of McLeod under quasi-contract law regardless of whether there was otherwise a contractual agreement.
- 2. The trial court erred by allowing the jury to hear legally untenable argument about McLeod's payment to a subcontractor for Stock & Associates and in instructing the jury that it could find for McLeod about failures to honor contract commitments. In conjunction with the failure to give a quantum meruit instruction, this prejudiced Stock & Associates by suggesting the existence of contract agreements that may not have existed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant Stock & Associates, Inc., plaintiff at trial, is a Washington corporation that performs professional architectural services with its principal place of business located in Seattle. Respondent Stuart McLeod, defendant at trial, is an individual and developer who resides in Washington who either contracted for or received professional services from Stock & Associates individually and though his company McLeod Development Company.

McLeod hired Stock & Associates to provide architectural services to with regard to a Kirkland project to which the parties refer as the Lake Street Place project.³ The project was initially a hotel project. Around the end of September 2007, McLeod changed it to a mixed use project that would have retail, restaurants and office space.⁴

Stock & Associates had previously worked with McLeod on other projects, including the restaurant Hector's and a nine unit apartment

¹ CP 1.

² CP 2.

³ See RP, Testimony of Bruce Stock ("Stock") at p.9 ll. 6-7 & 17-19; RP, Testimony of Stuart McLeod from Transcript of designated excerpt beginning at 1:49:47 ("McLeod II") at p. 9 ll. 1-3.

⁴ RP, Stock at p.10 ll. 19-21, p. 12 ll.1-11; RP, Testimony of Mark Smedley ("Smedley") at p.13 ll. 4-15; See RP McLeod II at p.9 ll 1-22, p.19 ll.

building among others.⁵ In particular, Stuart McLeod had a trusting relationship with Shelly Stock of Stock & Associates.⁶

Respondent developer Stuart McLeod engaged construction professional Jim Alekson to administer contract negotiations and contract performance.⁷ Jim Alekson handled the contract negotiations and day to day business dealings as an authorized agent.⁸ Stock & Associates had never worked with Jim Alekson on any prior projects.⁹

At Alekson's request, in October 2007 Stock & Associates provided McLeod with a bid price for the project as planned for that point in time.¹⁰ As the project was not yet fixed, the bid price was based upon the project as known at the time.¹¹ At the time the bid price sent to Alekson, the project's scope was still being developed, changing "almost daily."¹²

⁵RP, Stock at p.7 l. 16 – p.8 l. 21; RP, McLeod II at p.7 l. 17 – p.8 l.25.

⁶ RP, McLeod II at p.14 l. 25 – p.15 1 l.13, p.53 ll.18-19; RP, Testimony of Stuart McLeod from Transcript od designated excerpt beginning at 1:48:54 ("McLeod I") at p.31 ll.3-5.

⁷ RP, Stock at p.11 ll.14-23; RP, Smedley at p.30 ll. 2-3 & 12-18; RP, Testimony of Jim Alekson from Transcript of designated excerpt beginning at 9:54:50 ("Alekson I") at p. 9 ll.21-23.

⁸ RP, Stock at p.11 ll.14-23; RP, Smedley at p.30 ll. 2-3 & 12-18; RP, Alekson I at p. 9 ll.21-23.

⁹ RP, Stock at p.10 ll.9-12.

¹⁰ RP, Smedley at p.14 l. 21 – p.20 l. 17.

¹¹ RP, Stock at p.13 ll.12-21, p.15 ll. 4-8, p.17 ll. 13-21; RP, Smedley at p. 13 l. 16 – p. 14 l. 12, p.15 l. 2 – p.21 l. 5, p.27 ll. 5-18, p.81 L.8 – p.82 l.16 & Ex. 46.

¹² RP, Stock at p.13 II.18-21; RP, Smedley at p.21 II.4-16, p. 83 L.11 – p.85 L.5; RP, Alekson I at p.42 l. 12 – p.44 l. 22; compare Ex. 167 and 210.

Later, Stock & Associates provided a draft scope of work, which had been revised from that which the bid had been based upon, in accordance with the evolution of the project. At Alekson's request, Stock & Associates also provided McLeod with a draft contract. The initial proposed agreement was on a standard AIA B151 form which preserved the right to compensation for additional services such as added Kirkland Design Review Board ("DRB") proceedings, appeals to the City Counsel, third party charges, and Value Engineering under Section 3.3 Contingent Additional Services. The contract form is an industry standard AIA form, prepared through a consensus process that includes participation of architects, owners and general contractors alike.

The parties had meetings in which the failure to agree upon a contract was discussed.¹⁶ McLeod's situation was urgent.¹⁷ If drawings were not approved before February 1, 2008, McLeod as project developer would face an increase in the cost of construction project in the form of added Transport Impact Fees in the amount of nearly one million dollars.¹⁸ Stuart McLeod expressed frustration that rather than working on the

-

¹³ See Ex. 208.

¹⁴ RP, Smedley at p.26 l. 7 – p.2, l. 3; Ex. 206.

¹⁵ RP Stock at p.12 ll.16-19, p.57 l.19 – p.59 l.1.

RP, Smedley p.99 l.9 - p. 100 l. 15. 16

¹⁷ RP, Stock at p.123 l.16 – p.124 l.14.

 $^{^{18}}$ RP, Testimony of Jim Alekson from Transcript of designated excerpts beginning at 9:55:25 ("Alekson II") at p.2, l. 14-p.24 l. 14; RP, McLeod II at p.14 l. 25-p.15 l. 4; RP, Smedley at p.51 ll.2-6.

project Mark Smedley of Stock & Associates wanted to work on reaching an agreement on the form of contract.¹⁹

During a meeting about the impasse in reaching an agreed contract,

Stuart McLeod directed Stock & Associates to start working. He told

Bruce and Shelly Stock of Stock & Associates that he would "take care

of" them. Stock & Associates commenced work, met every deadline,

and completed the work necessary for McLeod to complete his project

without incurring nearly \$1 million in increased costs. Stock &

Associates continued to work on the project until McLeod directed it to

cease work in December 2008.

McLeod instructed Stock & Associates to first bill the portion of the project as it had been priced initially.²⁴ Stock & Associates billed as McLeod instructed.²⁵ During the course of the project, McLeod required significant extra work beyond the original scope of the bid.²⁶ McLeod was aware that Stock & Associates was requesting compensation for the

_

¹⁹ RP, Smedley at p.98 ll.11-22.

²⁰ RP, McLeod I at p.5 II.13-24, p.7 II.11-20; RP, Stock at p.64 I.14 – p.65 I.9.

²¹ RP, Alekson I at p. 50 II. 15-17; RP, McLeod I at p.5 II.13-24; RP, Smedley at p.100 II.3-15.

²²RP, Stock at p.65 ll. 18-22.

²³ RP, Stock at p.32 II.17-23.

²⁴ RP, Stock at p.25 II.11-17; RP, Smedley at p.90 L.6 – p.91 l.26, p.106 l.1 – p.108 l.18 & Ex. 61.

²⁵ RP, Stock at p.25 II.11-17, p.65 II.23-25; RP, Smedley at p.108 II.5-18.

²⁶ RP, Stock at p.25 II.18-22.

extra work, and even discussed extra costs involved from time to time.²⁷ For example, in connection with McLeod's attempt to avoid the new Transport Impact Fees, it was necessary to move up the deadline for submission of the drawings and accelerated work.²⁸

In the meantime, McLeod was also changing the scope of the project by adding an additional half floor of parking necessitating structural changes, requiring updates to multiple sets of drawings as a strategic decision, requesting an antique bar be placed into a building requiring re-engineering floor joists, requesting shoring analysis regarding adjacent structures, requesting additional drawings for purposes of setting up a sales office, and changes of structural slabs.²⁹ McLeod's various changes and strategies resulted in additional DRB meetings beyond the three originally budgeted for and likewise a City Council appeal.³⁰

Stock & Associates billed for the extra work beyond the scope of the project.³¹ The billings for extra work were sent out in the form of

-

31 RP. Stock at p.33 II.10-21.

²⁷ RP, Stock p.26 ll.3-25, p.65 l.23 – p.66 l.6; RP, Smedley at p.113 l.8 – p.114 l.16.

²⁸ RP, Stock at p.34 l.2 – p.37 l.14, p. 137 l.5 – p.138 l.12; Ex. 138; RP, Smedley at p.41 l.2 – p. 42 l.16.

²⁹ RP, Stock p.27 l.7 – p.32 l.5, p.39 l.12 – p.40 l.11, p.40 l.24 – p.42 l.19; Ex. 139, p.45 l.14 – p.46 l.6, p.47 l.2 – p.53 l.12, p. 55 l.15 – p.57 l.5. See also RP, Smedley at p.43 l.11 – p.70 l.9, p.86 l.3 – p.90 l.2.

³⁰ RP, Stock at p.19 l.14 p.21 l.6, p.43 l.3 – p.44 l.25, p.140 l.15 – p.141 l.3.

Additional Service Requests ("ASR").³² McLeod did not pay any amounts on the bills for its ASRs, even amounts not disputed.³³

Trial occurred before a jury. Evidence of contract negotiations and evidence of services performed was presented.³⁴ During his trial testimony Stuart McLeod changed his position on the smallest of the invoices, ASR 6. He testified that it was actually for something that Shelly Stock had discussed with him in advance so he agreed that should be part of the contract.³⁵

Stuart McLeod admitted that Alekson and Stock & Associates were both partly to blame for not reaching agreement on a contract on additional items.³⁶

Q. ...My question is: why wasn't the contract every signed?

A. Because Stock & Associates never responded back to Jim Alekson's comment, "The ball was in their court."

Q. In fact, you place accountability, though also on Jim Alekson.

A. Absolutely. Not for not executing it, but for the first initial delay that was associated with him being out of the country other responsibilities they had with this company.³⁷

Jim Alekson held a contract form for over six weeks, during which time it was necessary for Stock & Associates to continue work to stay on

35 RP, McLeod II at p. 24 l.4 – p.26 l.23.

³² Id. See Ex. 138-143, 235.

³³ RP, Smedley at p.110 ll.15-17.

³⁴ See supra.

³⁶ RP, Testimony of Stuart McLeod from Transcript of designated excerpt beginning at 1:48:54 ("McLeod I") at p.30 LL.8-14.

³⁷ RP, McLeod I at p.30 ll.16-24.

schedule.³⁸ He did not return the form until the evening of January 13, a Sunday night.³⁹ When he finally returned the contract form it was substantially altered from start to finish including substantial changes to fair allocation of risk provisions. 40 Stock & Associates did not accept the changes. 41 Contract negotiations broke down and hit an impasse. 42 But Stock & Associates provided the services for the benefit of McLeod nonetheless, relying on past practice and Stuart McLeod's promise.

At trial, over Stock & Associates' objections, McLeod argued that a payment he made directly to an engineering firm that subcontracted to Stock & Associates was a payment for which he was entitled to be reimbursed by Stock & Associates despite having not paid Stock & Associates for its work on that ASR.⁴³ McLeod had no contract pursuant to which they would be liable to the subcontractor, nor did the subcontractor have any unexpired lien rights against McLeod obligating McLeod to pay.44 In fact, Stuart McLeod testified that he paid the

RP, Smedley at p.92 II.9-16; RP, Stock at p.59 II. 2-13. Ex. 213.

³⁸ RP, Stock at p.16 II.3-24, p.59 L.2 – p.60 L.3, p.123 L.16 – p.124-14; RP, Alekson II at p.44 l. 22 – p.45 l. 3.

⁴⁰ RP, Stock at p.16 l. 3-24, p. 60 l.1 – p.63 l.8; RP, Smedley at p.92 l.9 – p.93 l.13, p.95 1.18 - p.961.5.

⁴¹RP, Stock at p.64 ll. 4-13; RP, Alekson I at p.14 ll. 8-19.

⁴²See RP, Stock at p.64 l.4-8, p. 124 ll.5-13; RP, Smedley at p.98 ll.11-22.

⁴³See RP, McLeod II at pp. 46-51. See also Ex. 256.

⁴⁴ RP, McLeod I at p.9 ll.10-15.

engineering subcontractor because of the relationship of one of the principals to his sister.⁴⁵

Stock & Associates moved the trial court to exclude that argument because it was legally impermissible as McLeod's voluntary payment. 46

The trial court let the matter go to the jury. The jury found Stock & Associates in breach and awarded that amount to McLeod. 47 Through post-trial motions, the trial court vacated that award and ruled that it was a voluntary payment. 48 However, the jury had already been instructed as though there was a contract claim.

In submitting proposed jury instructions, Stock & Associates asked the trial court to instruct the jury about breach of contract and also to give an instruction regarding quantum meruit recovery. The quantum meruit instruction was requested because if the jury found that a contract did not arise from the promise to "take care of them," then Stock & Associates would not be entitled to recovery for additional services without that instruction regarding quantum meruit. Given the admissions about failures and impasse in contract negotiations, it was foreseeable that a jury required both instructions.

-

⁴⁵ RP, McLeod II at p.46 l.3 – p.47 l.9 & ll.19-21; RP, McLeod I at p.10 ll.8-17.

⁴⁶ CP 327-35.

⁴⁷ CP 356.

⁴⁸ See Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion to Amend Judgment at CP 596-602.

⁴⁹ See generally Plaintiff's proposed jury instructions, CP 64-119, and Instruction 27 on Quantum Meruit at CP 103.

The Court rejected Appellant's proposed instruction on quantum meruit. The jury was not instructed about that legal ground for recovery for services performed.⁵⁰ The jury returned a verdict in favor of McLeod with the exception of the smallest invoice, upon which Stuart McLeod had changed his story, and admitted there was an agreement for those work items.⁵¹

AUTHORITY

The trial court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on quantum meruit as requested by Stock & Associates and by allowing McLeod to present evidence regarding direct payment to Stock & Associates' subcontractor, thereby portraying Stock & Associates as a bad actor that did not honor contract commitments. To the extent that McLeod's undertaking to "take care of" Stock & Associates did not constitute a contract to pay reasonable value for extra work, Stock & Associates was entitled to seek recovery under a quantum meruit theory.

A. Standards of Review

Jury instructions must be allowed when they "permit each party to argue their theory of the case, do not mislead the jury, and when read as a whole, properly inform the jury of the applicable law." *Anfinson v. Fedex*

_

⁵⁰ CP 362-86.

⁵¹ CP 355-57

Ground Package System, Inc., 159 Wn. App. 35, 35, 244 P.3d 32 (2010). A court's decision regarding whether to give a particular instruction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 36; *Stiley v. Block*, 130 Wn.2d 486, 498, 925 P.2d 194 (1996).

A trial court's decision to give or not give an instruction based on a ruling of law is reviewed de novo. *Id.* (citing *State v. Walker*, 136 Wn.2d 136 Wn.2d 767, 771-72, 966 P.2d 883 (1998) (citing *State v. Lucky*, 128 Wn.2d 727, 731, 912 P.2d 483 (1996), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Berlin*, 133 Wn.2d 541, 544, 947 P.2d 700 (1997))). Trial court error on jury instructions is a ground for reversal if it is prejudicial, meaning if it affects the outcome of the trial. *Stiley*, 130 Wn.2d at *id.*

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