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

In the absence of an express contract between parties, Washington 

law recognizes certain situations in which a party may recover damages 

based on a contract implied either in law or in fact. Young, 164 W n.2d at 

483-84. A contract implied in fact "is an agreement depending for its 

existence on some act or conduct of the party sought to be charged and 

arising by implication from circumstances which, according to common 

understanding, show a mutual intention ofthe parties to contract with each 

other." Id. at 485 (quoting Johnson v. Nasi, 50 Wn.2d 87, 91, 309 P.2d 

380 (1957)). An action for the recovery of "the reasonable value of 

services provided under a contract implied in fact" is termed "quantum 

meruit." Id. 
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Critically for purposes of this case, a party may only claim 

quantum meruit in the absence of an express contract. Otherwise: 

A party to a valid express contract is bound 
by the provisions of that contract, and may 
not disregard the same and bring an action 
on an implied contract relating to the same 
matter, in contravention of the express 
contract. 

Chandler, 17 Wn.2d at 604 (emphasis added) (citing 71 C.1. 81, § 42; 17 

C.1.S., Contracts, § 5 p. 231; Schneider v. Allis-Chalmers Mfg. Co., 196 

Wis. 56,219 N.W. 370; and Federal Royalty Co. v. Knox, 5 Cir., 114 F.2d 

78). 

3. Stock and MDC had an Express Fixed Sum 
Contract 

Here, the evidence supported the conclusion that the parties had an 

express fixed fee contract, that contract included the claimed ASRs within 

its scope, and that the fixed fee contract included provisions that addressed 

procedures for allowing additional work that was outside the scope of 

work. Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining 

that a claim for quantum meruit for additional work was barred by the 

existence of the express contract. 

31 



The facts related to the formation of a contract between Moe and 

Stock are laid out extensively above. In sum, McLeod engaged Stock in 

May 2007 to work first on the Hotel Project and then the Lake Street 

Project after the Hotel Project was deemed unfeasible in September 2007. 

Stock engaged Smedley as the project manager on the Lake Street Project. 

RP 10116/13, Smedley Testimony, 9:14-25. From the beginning, Stock 

understood that the agreement for architectural services would be a fixed 

fee/stipulated sum contract. RP 10116113, Smedley Testimony, 133:16-22, 

157:24 - 158:15; Ex. 58; and RP 10116/13, Alekson Testimony, 22:21 -

23:13. 

After numerous discussions between the various individuals, in 

October 2007, Smedley submitted a memorandum to McLeod regarding 

the contract set. In that memorandum, Smedley stated: 

I would like to offer a narrative with the 
invoices so that we can be clear about our 
time, the progress made, and any concern 
about fees, contract, schedule, and changes 
to the process keeping you up to date with 
what our consultant team is doing. 

(emphasis added). The "narrative" was intended to keep McLeod apprised 

as to any issues in the listed areas. Based on this, Alekson understood 

they would be advised of any changes in fees or contracts. RP 10116113, 

Smedley Testimony, 133:5-11; RP 10116/13, Alekson Testimony, 24:21 -
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25: 10. Smedley is therefore the one that initially stated that notice would 

be provided before any changes to fees or concerns about the contract, the 

schedule, or other changes to the process. 

In November, 2007 Smedley submitted to Alekson the Exhibit A 

Stipulated Fee breakdown describing the stipulated fee. RP 10/16/13, 

Smedley Testimony, 134:8 - 135:8. He also delivered an incomplete 

"form B-151" to Alekson and McLeod in late November, 2007. RP 

10/16/13, Smedley Testimony, 133. Section 3.1.1 of the Form B-151 

confirmed the previously discussed notice provisions. It described 

procedures for the architect to receive additional compensation for 

services provided beyond the scope of work, provided the additional work 

was authorized or confirmed in writing by the owner. On December 16, 

2007, Smedley submitted a "married" Exhibit A Stipulated Fee breakdown 

and Attachment B Scope of Work for the Lake Street Project. Ex. 209. 

During this time, Stock had been working on the project, and on 

December 16, 2007, Stock submitted an invoice dated December 12, 2007 

for work performed in October and November. The invoice was based on 

the percentage of work complete under the Exhibit A Stipulated Fee and 

Attachment B Scope of Work. On January 2, 2008, Stock submitted an 

invoice and narrative description for work in October 2007. This invoice 
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also followed the Exhibit A Stipulated Fee and Attachment B Scope of 

Work. 

On January 12, 2008, Alekson delivered proposed modifications to 

the Form B-151. Alekson's proposed changes did not modify Section 

3.1.1 addressing procedures for the architect to receive additional 

compensation based on written confirmation by the Owner. Exs. 206 & 

213. Smedley proposed in his memorandum that notice would be 

provided. That understanding was confirmed by Smedley when he 

submitted the Form B-151, and further confirmed by MDC when Alekson 

returned the Form B-151, leaving the relevant provision intact. 

Through September 2008, every invoice Stock submitted was 

billed based on a percentage of work complete as provided under the 

Exhibit A Stipulated Fee and Attachment B Scope of Work. Exs.214-217 

& 218. No invoices referenced any additional work or extra costs incurred 

for any reason, including those later raised in the ASRs. Id. Stock did not 

advise MDC of any issues related to "concerns" as it had agreed to do in 

October, 2007 (Ex. 204) nor did Stock request permission for any 

additional work beyond the Attachment B Scope of Work and did not 

receive authorization for any such work as required by Section 3.1.1 of the 

Form B-151. Indeed, Stock billed based on a contract and the ASRs 
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themselves were alleged by Stock to be outside the contractually agreed 

Scope of Work. 

Based on the above evidence, the trial court reasonably could have 

concluded that the evidence established a contract between Stock and 

MDC under which Stock would provide services subject to a fixed fee 

agreement, and that the agreement included a provision governing prior 

notice of any request for additional fees for work outside of the defined 

scope of work. Because the parties had an express contract and because 

that contract included provisions addressing additional work, the court did 

not abuse its discretion by refusing an instruction on quantum meruit. 

Any other result would have impermissibly allowed Stock to substitute an 

implied contract for the provisions of the express contract. 

4. Stock's Citations to Cases Involving Changed 
Circumstances Are Not Applicable to This Case 

Stock cites to V.C. Edwards Contracting Co., Inc. v. Port of 

Tacoma, 83 Wn.2d 7,13,514 P.2d 1381 (1973), for the proposition that 

the express contract between the parties does not bar recovery in quantum 

meruit for additional work necessitated by changed conditions. 

Appellant's Br. at 18-19. First of all, V.c. Edwards Contracting Co. is a 

construction contract case, not a professional services case. Even so, this 
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rule only applies to "substantial changes which are not covered by the 

contract and are not within the contemplation of the parties." Hensel 

Phelps Constr. Co. v. King County, 57 Wn. App. 170, 177, 787 P.2d 58 

(1990) ("Hensel Phelps,,).5 Where parties agree on a contract and the 

contract provides a procedure to address changes in the scope of work, the 

parties are limited to suing on the contract and barred from quantum 

meruit. 

Indeed, the situation in Hensel Phelps is similar to the situation in 

this case (with the caveat that Hensel Phelps is a construction case). In 

Hensel Phelps, a subcontractor sued the general contractor in quantum 

meruit to recover for additional costs beyond the scope of work. The 

contract provided that a subcontractor could claim equitable adjustments 

in the contract price for changes ordered by the owner, and required that 

the subcontractor give written notice of any condition on which it would 

make a claim. Id. at 177-79. The court held that because the contract 

provided procedures for addressing work beyond the scope of the contract, 

the trial court "did not err in dismissing the quantum meruit claim as a 

matter oflaw." Id. at 183. 

5 Stock describes Hensel Phelps as not applying because the parties did not have an 
"executed a written contract"; Appellant's Br. at 22, but nothing in the case limits its 
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The same rule applies here. The parties agreed that Stock would 

provide notice of "concerns" and exchanged forms of B-151 which had an 

unaltered Section 3.1.1 that provided a procedure for claiming costs 

beyond those described in the fixed fee contract. Therefore, Stock is 

limited to contractual remedies for any such costs and may not substitute a 

quantum meruit claim for the contract. 

Additionally, as described extensively above, the claimed ASRs 

were not additional work, but were within the scope of the fixed fee 

agreement. Supra at 15-19. For example: Stock knew about the February 

1, 2008 deadline and established a scheduled filing date of January 15, 

2008 before Smedley submitted the Exhibit A Stipulated Fee proposal and 

the Attachment B Scope of Work, it was not additional unexpected work 

as described in ASR 1; Stock planned for five stories of parking with 

approximately 500 parking spaces, so developing five stories of parking 

with 520 parking spaces was not additional work as described in ASR 2; 

and Stock knew that DRB approval could take five or more meetings and 

expressly agreed that the scope of work included "obtaining final Design 

application to written contracts. It refers to express contracts generally. 
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Review approval from the City of Kirkland," so requiring multiple DRB 

meetings and an appeal was no additional work as described in ASR 3. 

The evidence supported finding the existence of a contract that 

provided procedures for addressing additional work beyond the scope of 

work. Therefore, Stock's ASRs are contingencies provided for in the 

contract, and Stock was properly limited to presenting a case for breach of 

contract. Further, the claimed ASRs were within the scope of the express 

contract. For these reasons, Respondents respectfully request that the 

Court affirm the trial court's refusal to give an instruction on quantum 

meruit. 

D. Stock Waived its Objection to Evidence Presented on 
Defendants' Payment to a Sub consultant Because it 
Failed to Object to the Evidence at Trial 

Stock's second assignment of error is that "[t]he trial court erred in 

allowing testimony and evidence regarding [McLeod] and [MDC's] 

voluntary payment to [Stock's] subcontractor ... because that only 

confused the jury ... " Appellant's Br. at 28.6 Any alleged error in 

6 Stock also suggests that it was reversible error for the trial court to allow argument on 
this issue, rather than simply to admit testimony and evidence on the issue. Appellant's 
Sr. at 6. However, Stock acknowledges that the trial court corrected the issue of allowing 
an impermissible argument by vacating the jury' s award in favor of McLeod and MOe 
on this issue. Appellant's Sr. at 29. The only issue for review then is whether the trial 
court erred in permitting the evidence and testimony in the first place. 
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admitting this testimony is not subject to appellate review, because Stock 

failed to object to the evidence and testimony at trial. 

Under ER 103, "error may not be predicated upon a ruling which 

admits ... evidence unless ... a timely objection or motion to strike is 

made, stating the specific ground of the objection, if the specific ground 

was not apparent from the context. .. " ER 103(a)(1); see also, Boyd v. 

Ku1czyk, 115 Wn. App. 411,416-17,115 Wn. App. 411 (2003) (holding 

that the court had "no basis for review" because the defendant failed to 

object to the challenged testimony at trial.). 

Although Stock does not specifically call out the testimony and 

exhibits it thinks should have been excluded, Stock directs the Court's 

attention to RP 8/6113, McLeod Testimony, 46:3 - 51:8 and Ex. 256. 

Stock raised a single objection to that portion of McLeod's testimony, and 

the trial court sustained that objection: 

Q. And that $84,000 is spread throughout 
the ASRs? 

A. I believe so. 

MR. ELISON: Objection. Leading. 

THE COURT: Sustained. 

RP 8/6113, McLeod Testimony, 50: 19-22. Stock's assignment of error is 

not that the trial court admitted leading testimony, and this objection was 
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sustained besides, so it cannot for the basis for Stock's appeal. Stock also 

initially questioned the admissibility of Ex. 256 on grounds of hearsay and 

authentication, RP 8/6/13, McLeod Testimony, 48:14 - 49:3, but 

ultimately did not object: 

MR. BRAIN: Move for admission. 

THE COURT: Any objection? 

MR. ELISON: Not to that document, Your 
Honor. 

THE COURT: 256 is admitted. 

RP 8/6/13, McLeod Testimony, 49:20-23 (emphasis added). 

Stock did not object to the evidence and testimony offered on 

McLeod's payment to the subconsultant. Stock did object to Defendants' 

arguments regarding recovery of those funds, and the trial court resolved 

any error by vacating the jury's judgment, effectively removing 

consideration of the argument from the jury's hands. Stock should not be 

allowed to now attempt to exclude the evidence and testimony for the first 

time on appeal. 

Stock seeks to remedy its failure to object by claiming that 

vacating the judgment was not sufficient because the evidence and 

testimony related to the subconsultant payments prejudiced on the 

remaining issues. If Stock was concerned that the jury would consider 
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• 

evidence and testimony beyond the issue for which it was offered, Stock 

could have requested a limiting instruction. Stock did not. Because Stock 

did not request a limiting instruction, the jury was entitled to consider the 

evidence and testimony for any issue, and Stock cannot now complain 

about specific issues that the evidence and testimony may have 

influenced. 7 

Further, even had Stock objected to the admission of the evidence 

in question, the trial court would have been correct to overrule Stock's 

objection. Stock claims that the evidence should not have been allowed 

because it was relevant only to the issue of whether McLeod was entitled 

to damages for breach of contract, but Stock is incorrect. In exchange for 

the payment to PSM, McLeod obtained a full release ofPSM's claims 

against Stock. As some of the ASRs included money Stock would 

otherwise have owed to PSM, the fact that PSM had released its claims 

against Stock was relevant to the issue of Stock's damages. Indeed, 

failing to allow the evidence would have created substantial risk that Stock 

7 Stock's reliance on State v. Fuller, 169 Wn. App. 797, 282 P.3d 126 (2012), is 
misplaced. Fuller was a criminal case in which the state impermissibly commented on 
the defendant's post arrest silence. Because commenting on post arrest silence violates a 
defendant's constitutional rights, it is subject to a stringent "constitutional harmless error 
standard" that applies regardless of whether the defendant objects at trial. See, e.g., Id. at 
812-13. The constitutional harmless error standard does not apply in this case. 
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• 

would be double compensated for its claimed damages - once when PSM 

released its claims, and again when it collected money from McLeod to 

pay the no longer existing claims. The trial court would have been correct 

to admit this evidence over Stock's objection.s 

Finally, any erroneous admission oftestimony and evidence 

related to payment of subconsultants was harmless. "Error in the 

admission of evidence is without prejudice when the same facts are 

established by other evidence." Feldmiller v. Olson, 75 Wn.2d 322, 325, 

450 P.2d 816 (1969). Stock claims that the evidence as to McLeod's 

payment to subconsultants improperly influenced the jury on the question 

of whether a contract existed between the parties. Even without the 

evidence of McLeod's payment to subconsultants, significant evidence 

existed on which the jury could have found such a contract. See supra at 

4-19. Indeed, on this issue, McLeod's payment to subconsultants was a 

relatively insignificant piece of evidence. 

Because Stock failed to object to the evidence and testimony on 

which it bases its assignment of error, and because any error in admitting 

8 Again, had Stock been concerned that the jury would consider the evidence on issues 
beyond damages, it could have asked for a limiting instruction. It did not. 
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• 

such evidence was harmless, Respondents respectfully request that the 

Court affirm the decision of the trial court. 

v. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons mentioned above, Respondents respectfully request 

that the Court affirm the trial court.